

REVIEW Open Access

Strategies and hurdles using DNA vaccines to fish

Linn B Hølvold¹, Anne I Myhr² and Roy A Dalmo^{1*}

Abstract

DNA vaccinations against fish viral diseases as IHNV at commercial level in Canada against VHSV at experimental level are both success stories. DNA vaccination strategies against many other viral diseases have, however, not yet yielded sufficient results in terms of protection. There is an obvious need to combat many other viral diseases within aquaculture where inactivated vaccines fail. There are many explanations to why DNA vaccine strategies against other viral diseases fail to induce protective immune responses in fish. These obstacles include: 1) too low immunogenicity of the transgene, 2) too low expression of the transgene that is supposed to induce protection, 3) suboptimal immune responses, and 4) too high degradation rate of the delivered plasmid DNA. There are also uncertainties with regard distribution and degradation of DNA vaccines that may have implications for safety and regulatory requirements that need to be clarified. By combining plasmid DNA with different kind of adjuvants one can increase the immunogenicity of the transgene antigen – and perhaps increase the vaccine efficacy. By using molecular adjuvants with or without in combination with targeting assemblies one may expect different responses compared with naked DNA. This includes targeting of DNA vaccines to antigen presenting cells as a central factor in improving their potencies and efficacies by means of encapsulating the DNA vaccine in certain carriers systems that may increase transgene and MHC expression. This review will focus on DNA vaccine delivery, by the use of biodegradable PLGA particles as vehicles for plasmid DNA mainly in fish.

Table of contents

- 1. Introduction
- 2. DNA vaccines and vaccination
- Immune responses to DNA vaccination mainly in mice and birds
- 4. DNA vaccination against novirhabdoviruses
- 5. Recent DNA vaccination laboratory trials
- Administration and distribution of DNA vaccines
 Intramuscular injection
 - 6.2. Other routes of delivery
- 7. Uptake of plasmid DNA in fish and mammalian species
- 8. Factors influencing transfection and transgene expression
- Advantages, disadvantages and challenges of DNA vaccines
- 10. Application of molecular adjuvants to increase transgene immunogenicity
- 11. PLGA particles as carrier systems for DNA vaccines focus on fish
- * Correspondence: roy.dalmo@uit.no
- ¹UIT The Arctic University of Norway, Faculty of Biosciences, Fisheries & Economics, Norwegian College of Fishery Science, 9037 Tromsø, Norway Full list of author information is available at the end of the article

- 12. Issues of making DNA encapsulated PLGA particles
- 13. Transgene expression and immune responses by PLGA-encapsulated pDNA
- 14. Other particles in vaccine delivery to fish
- 15. Current challenges in the use of PLGA particles as carriers/adjuvants
- 16. Concerns regarding PLGA nano- and micro-particles
- 17. Safety and regulatory aspects by DNA vaccines
- 18. Conclusions
- 19. Competing interests
- 20. Authors' contributions
- 21. Acknowledgements
- 22. References

1. Introduction

There are quite a limited number of DNA vaccine strategies that have been successful in giving significant protection against fish diseases. The excellent exceptions are DNA vaccination against infectious hematopoietic necrosis virus (IHNV) at commercial level and against viral hemorrhagic septicemia virus (VHSV) at experimental/small scale level [1]. A promising strategy to increase the DNA vaccine efficacy, against other viral



diseases, is to target the construct and/transgene to antigen presenting cells. Wang et al. [2] have presented an overview on how DNA vaccines can be targeted to antigen presenting cells (APC) and dendritic cells (DC) using molecular assemblies with the resulting immune responses. Another strategy is to encapsulate the DNA vaccine in certain carriers with the intention to increase transgene and MHC expression. There are many particulate carriers that have been explored to present and target DNA vaccines to desired cells and tissues, one of them being poly (D,L-lactic-co-glycolic)-acid (PLGA) particles.

2. DNA vaccines and vaccination

The definition of DNA vaccination as provided by The Norwegian Biotechnology Advisory Board [3] is "the intentional transfer of genetic material (DNA or RNA) to somatic cells for the purpose of influencing the immune system". This sets it slightly apart from gene therapy, which in the same report is referred to as an introduction of novel gene(s) for purposes other than influencing the immune system. The mechanism of a DNA vaccine can in many ways be likened to that of a virus, as it requires the same cellular machinery in order to replicate and since it also triggers immune responses normally seen with viral infections [4]. Unlike conventional viral vaccines based on subunits or killed virus, a DNA vaccine may conserve the structure and hence also antigenicity of a transgenic antigen/protein [5].

3. Immune responses to DNA vaccination – mainly in mice and birds

A vital attribute of DNA vaccines is the ability to induce all three arms of adaptive immunity, namely; helper T-cells, cytotoxic T cells (CTLs) and antibodies, although they were initially investigated in the attempt to find ways of delivering antigen to major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I and induce T helper 1 (Th1) responses [6,7]. Professional APCs are the cells that primarily contribute to the immune responses to DNA vaccination. Direct transfection of DCs provides the most efficient priming of naïve CTLs, and is perhaps the major mechanism for priming of these cells [8]. APCs are also able to take up exogenous antigens and process them for presentation by either MHC class II, or MHC class I following transfer of the antigen to the cytosol (cross-priming) [9]. These responses are vital in the cellular immune response following DNA vaccination. The expression of reporter genes is not only higher in fish, but also seems to have a longer duration. Transgene expression has been detected at the injection site as long as two years after injection of glass catfish (Kryptopterus bicirrhus) [10], and Tonheim et al. detected both supercoiled (sc) DNA and luciferase expression at the injection site 535 days after intramuscular injection of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) with pDNA [11].

The immunogenicity of DNA vaccines stems not only from the expression of the GOI, but also from properties of the plasmid vectors themselves. The ability of foreign nucleic acids to induce interferons (IFNs) in mouse fibroblasts was discovered by two independent research groups as early as in 1963 [12]. The most studied pDNA property in terms of possible adjuvant effects is CpG motifs, regions in the DNA where a cytosine nucleotide occurs next to a guanine nucleotide and the two are linked by a phosphodiester bond. In vertebrates these sequences are highly methylated, whereas they show a much lower methylation frequency in viral and bacterial DNA (such as pDNA). These CpG motifs can act as pathogen-associated molecular pattern molecules (PAMPs) and are recognized as danger signals by the vertebrate immune system, resulting in a release of cytokines, macrophage activation, a differentiation of Th1 effector cells as well as B-cell proliferation and secretion of antibodies [13]. Plasmid DNA containing optimized CpG content may be likely used in DNA vaccine strategies.

4. DNA vaccination against novirhabdoviruses

The first DNA vaccination of fish took place in 1996, when Anderson et al. immunized rainbow trout (Onchorhyncus mykiss) against IHNV [14]. Since then several trials have been performed for a wide variety of fish species and pathogens and in 2005 a vaccine against IHNV infection in salmonids (Apex-IHN®, Novartis Animal Health) was also one of the first DNA vaccine ever to be cleared for marketing (by the Canadian Food Inspection Agency). In 1999 the injection of Atlantic salmon with pCMV4-G (plasmid-encoded glycoprotein) from a rainbow trout IHNV isolate induced significant protection against challenges with IHNV, even though the salmon were much larger than the rainbow trout in previous challenge studies [15]. DNA vaccination of fish has been shown to induce both innate and adaptive immune responses similar to what is seen in mammalian species, and seems especially efficient against novirhabdoviruses (like VHSV and IHNV). These are simple RNA viruses with either five or six genes and a single viral surface protein (glycoprotein, or G protein) that acts as the protective antigen [16].

In rainbow trout an immunization against VHSV enables the induction of cell-mediated immune responses encompassing both CTLs and natural killer (NK) cells and has also been shown to significantly reduce the replication of virus during challenge [17]. Interestingly, when Cuesta et al. looked at the innate and adaptive responses in vaccinated and control fish after challenge, they found the highest increase in vaccinated fish to be that of innate immune responses [18]. Lorenzen et al. [19] have also

demonstrated the importance of innate responses in early antiviral defense, wherein rainbow trout were subjected to VHSV challenge following vaccination with pIHN-G (plasmid-encoded IHNV glycoprotein). Whereas protection at late stages of the challenge could only be conferred by previous immunization with pVHS-G, the two vaccines induced similar levels of immune responses and protection during the first week following challenge.

In conclusion, anti novirhabdovirus response governed by DNA vaccines relies much on the immunogenicity of the G-protein resulting in long-lasting protection mediated by cellular and humoral responses. In addition, there is an innate and specific response following DNA vaccination that may be protective in a short-term perspective.

Other RNA viruses, or the larger DNA viruses, often offer more difficulty in identifying a protective antigen,

although viral surface protein genes are almost always chosen for DNA vaccines [2]. Some pathogens, such as infectious pancreatic necrosis virus (IPNV), primarily cause disease in fry. Whereas vaccination by injection is highly impractical at this stage [20], the vaccination of post-smolts has been shown to induce protection upon challenge [21]. Good protection did, however, require the use of plasmids encoding all the large poly-proteins of the IPNV.

5. Recent DNA vaccination laboratory trials

DNA vaccines and their effects against several viral and bacterial diseases in fish have been reviewed by Tonheim et al. [22], Kurath [23], Redding and Weiner [24], and Gomez-Casado et al. [25]. Since these reviews were published, several new results using DNA vaccine strategies have been reported (Table 1).

Table 1 Experimental DNA vaccines and their protection in fish following experimental infection

Pathogen	Gene inserted	Host	Administration route/adjuvant	Protection	References
IHNV	IHNV-G plus suicidal gene	Rainbow trout	l.m/none	Yes	[26]
IHNV	IHNV-G; different genogroups	Rainbow trout	l.m/none	Yes; cross-protection	[27]
IHNV	IHNV-G	Rainbow trout	Oral/PLGA	No	[28]
VHSV	E. tarda as delivery vehicle of the vaccine	Olive/Japanese flounder (Paralichthys olivaceus)	l.m	Yes	[29]
IPNV	VP2		Oral/alginate	Yes	[30]
IPNV	VP2; Segment A of TA strain	Atlantic salmon	l.m	No	[31]
SAV	E1 and E2	Atlantic salmon	l.m	No	[32]
Megalocytivirus	86-residue VP	Turbot (Scophthalmus maximus)	l.m	Yes	[33]
Edwardsiella tarda	Eta6-FliC chimeric protein	Japanese flounder (Paralichthys olivaceus)	l.m	Yes	[34]
E. tarda	D15-like surface antigen	Japanese flounder	l.m	Yes	[35]
E. tarda	Eta2	Japanese flounder	i.m	Yes	[36]
Streptococcus iniae	sagF, sagG and sagI	Japanese flounder	l.m	Yes	[37]
S. iniae	Sia10 delivered by E. tarda	Japanese flounder	Oral/alginate, immersion- boosted	Yes	[38]
Vibrio harveyi	FlaA	Yellow grouper (Epinephelus awoara)	l.m	Yes	[39]
V. harveyi	DegQ or/and Vhp1	Japanese flounder	l.m	Yes	[40]
V. alginolyticus	FlaA	Red snapper (Lutjanus campechanus)	l.m	Yes	[41]
S. iniae and V. anguillarum	Sia10 and/or OmpU	Turbot	l.m	Yes, cross-protection	[37]
Flavobacterium psychrophilum	Hsp60, hsp70	Rainbow trout	l.m	No	[42]
Cryptocaryon irritans	iAg	Orange spotted grouper (E. coioides)	l.m	Yes	[43]
Cryptobia salmocitica	Metalloprotease	Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout	l.m	Partly	[44]
lchthyophthrius multifiliis	Immunobilization antigens and cystein protease	Rainbow trout	l.m, gene gun and air pressure	No	[45]

Apparently, DNA vaccination may also confer protection against bacteria and parasites – but not against all. Bacteria and parasites may express and harbor numerous different antigens dependent on their life cycle, this make a DNA vaccination strategy more complicated. There are developed "traditional" oil adjuvanted vaccines against a number of bacterial diseases, where the strategies may be quite efficient preventing infection and disease. This is in contrast to some parasitic infections/ attachment such as sea lice - where no immune prophylaxis exists at present at an industrial scale.

6. Administration and distribution of DNA vaccines

6.1. Intramuscular injection

Intramuscular injection is widely applied for pDNA delivery in fish and generally results in strong expressions of transgene at the injection site [22]. Studies in mice have found the dispersion of pDNA immediately following intramuscular injection to take place primarily between the muscle body and epimysium (connective tissue that enclosing the entire muscle). Myocytes and mononuclear cells take up pDNA after administration [22], but despite a rapid initiation of uptake the subsequent uptake is slow and cells along the muscle fibers have been shown to be transfected over a period of hours following injection. With very small fish this initial dispersion of a vaccine might be enough to ensure the perfusion of intact pDNA to more distant tissues, while in large fish the injected volume will mainly rest along the needle trajectory [22]. The transportation of pDNA to and from blood to other tissues has been reported for various fish species [22]. Plasmids have been recovered from sites such as liver, spleen, head-kidney, heart and intestine for some time after injection, but mainly persist at the site of injection. Degradation of the pDNA starts within five minutes following injection of mice, with as much as 95-99% of the initial pDNA amount degraded within 90 min [22]. The rate of degradation in the tissue of cold-water fish remains to be determined. The extent of histopathological changes at the injection site following intramuscular DNA delivery in fish appear to increase with an increase in vaccination dose [46], but vaccination will generally induce only moderate local tissue damage in form of degeneration of myocytes, hemorrhages and a transient influx of inflammatory cells [20].

6.2. Other routes of delivery

Other routes of pDNA administration that have been investigated in fish are intravenous, intraperitoneal, oral delivery, and particle bombardment [1,21]. Accumulation of naked pDNA took place primarily in the heart, kidney and liver following intravenous administration

[22], whereas oral delivery resulted in a recovery of DNA fragments from the pyloric region, kidney, spleen and liver – assessed by revers-transcription polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) [28].

7. Uptake of plasmid DNA in fish and mammalian species

A wide variety of mammalian cell types has been shown to take up pDNA – reviewed by Budker et al. [47], but so far uptake in fish has only been reported for myocytes, head kidney macrophages and endocardial endothelial cells (EECs) [22]. The exact mechanisms by which myocytes take up pDNA remains to be determined, but several suggestions have been made [48]. It was previously theorized that direct injections caused temporary membrane disruptions and/or pores that allowed for the entry of pDNA [5], but studies have shown that such disruptions in fact work to abolish transfection [12].

Several PPRs have been shown to bind nucleic acids including plasmid DNA, reviewed by Desmet et al. [49]. Of the number of cell-surface receptors investigated in terms of DNA binding and uptake, scavenger receptors (SRs) in particular have been a subject of interest. These receptors comprise a broad family of membrane proteins capable of binding a wide range of anionic ligands and are present on several different cell types [50]. The uptake of pDNA by SRs has been demonstrated in Atlantic cod (Gadus morhua) atrial EECs [51], but although the SRs may bind DNA they appear not to be essential for the immunostimulatory activity of CpG DNA [52]. This indicates that SRs activity may be essential for the transgene expression - as they may bind and facilitate degradation of high amount of plasmid DNA before expression occurs.

8. Factors influencing transfection and transgene expression

Nucleic acids have poor intrinsic transfection efficiency due to their large size and negative charge [53]. The processes of gene transcription and translation are carried out by the cell's own machinery, and may be influenced by a variety of factors such as pDNA vector design, pDNA concentrations, administration volumes, age and size of the fish, water temperatures and method as well as route of administration.

It has been well documented that the DNA topoform has a strong influence on the efficiency of transfection [54]. Supercoiled DNA is frequently reported as the most potent topoform followed by open circular (oc) forms, whereas linearization of the DNA has been shown to nearly abolish the expression of transgene and linearized pDNA. The choice of promoter also has a profound influence on the level of transgene expression [55] and the cytomegalovirus (CMV) promoter has often

been reported as the most effective. Because of this, the CMV promoter is the most commonly applied in gene transfection studies and its potency has been demonstrated also in fish [5]. The use of an intron and poly-adenylation (termination) signals further improves expression [55].

Despite the inherent adjuvant effects of DNA vaccines, it has been shown that immune responses triggered by DNA vaccination may in fact limit the duration of transgene expression [55]. The lack of anti-Luc antibodies means that both levels and duration of expression are commonly higher in studies applying luciferase compared to more immunogenic antigens, and immune responses have only been observed with the application of large pDNA doses and potent adjuvants such as Freund' s complete adjuvant (FCA) [56]. A co-administration of vectors encoding Luc and immunogenic proteins (β-gal, G protein) decreases both the strength and duration of luciferase expression, as the initiated antigen specific cytotoxic responses work to eliminate transfected cells expressing the transgenic protein [56]. The stimulation of PRRs may also induce responses that can be detrimental to transgene expression. The hallmark cytokines of the inflammatory response, TNF-α and IL-1β, have both been shown to inhibit transgene expression in vitro and in vivo [57], as have the Th1 associated cytokines IFN- γ and IFN- α [58]. Levels of inhibition have in fact been shown to correlate with the levels of CpG-induced cytokines, and synergistic effects were also observed. The inhibitory effect takes place at the mRNA (posttranscriptional) level, hence not causing vector degradation, inhibition of total cellular protein synthesis or elimination of infected/transfected cells [58].

Whereas intramuscular injection is widely acknowledged as the superior method of administration to achieve high levels of transgene expression [1], the result still depends on factors such as dose, volume and fish size and age [59]. Transgene expression has been found to be higher in young and growing fish [5], and small fish sizes appear to favor not only the distribution of pDNA throughout tissue but the distribution of transgene expression as well [5]. For example expression of luciferase in thymus, gills, spleen and kidney has been reported for small fish (< 5 g), although the highest expression is consistently detected at the site of injection in myocytes, infiltrating cells and epithelial cells lining small capillaries [20,60].

The first reporter gene study in fish indicated the existence of a maximum above where there would be no further increase in expression [60]. This observation is supported by later findings in zebra fish (*Danio rerio*) and rainbow trout [5], and there are indications that excessive DNA concentrations may actually reduce transgene expression [21]. The injection of large volumes

might contribute to a spatial distribution by creating temporary gaps between fibers [61], which appears to induce higher expression as well as reduce the variations commonly observed in in vivo transfection studies [5]. A pre-injection of an isotonic solution created the same effect, and lead to both higher and more equal transgene expression among individuals after DNA injection [61].

9. Advantages, disadvantages and challenges of DNA vaccines

The potency of DNA vaccines for inducing the different branches of both innate and adaptive immunity has already been described. DNA vaccines also show high efficiency when given at early life stages [62], and provide the benefit of inducing protective immunity over a wide span of temperatures [63].

The advantages of DNA vaccination still stretch beyond merely the immunological capacities. Looking at the concept from a manufacturer or/and investor's standpoint, DNA vaccines are relatively inexpensive and easy to produce. The processes required for production are identical for all DNA vaccines, and the ease of cloning also enables rapid modifications in a way that is generally not obtainable with conventional vaccine preparations [60].

Potential side effects include e.g. risk of autoimmunity, immune tolerance against the expressed antigen, too high CTL response resulting in myositis, chromosomal integration, injection site inflammation and tissue destruction [1,64].

10. Application of molecular adjuvants to increase transgene immunogenicity

To increase immunogenicity of a given DNA vaccine one may consider optimization by including co-injected adjuvant, either being traditional aluminum salts, polysaccharides (e.g. zymosan, glucans, chitosan), different liposomes, synthetic polymers and TLR agonists. Moreover, plasmid encoded cytokine adjuvants may also be one approach to increase the immunogenicity. IL-2, IFN-y, IL-12, GM-CSF and IL-15 have been shown to modulate immune responses when co-encoded by the DNA vaccine [65]. One may also apply the concept of immune modulating effects chemokines, transcription factors and/or co-stimulatory factors assembled into the plasmid vectors. Using fish models, only one report on the use of cytokine adjuvants encoded by the same plasmid as the expression plasmid has been published. Caipang et al. used Japanese flounder interferon regulatory factor-1 (IRF-1) cloned into a plasmid DNA vector containing the major capsid protein gene of sea bream iridovirus. The antibody levels of fish injected with this vaccine were not significant higher with the control plasmid without IRF-1 gene [66]. Unfortunately, no experimental virus challenge was carried out to monitor vaccine efficacy. To increase vaccine potency and efficacy of poor performing DNA vaccines one should explore strategies such as inclusion of molecular adjuvants perhaps in combination with targeting carrier systems such as nano- and microparticles. Although transfection levels are often low, studies have demonstrated a persistence of transgene expression at the injection site that might coincide with a time when the fish would normally be ready for slaughter [67]. There have been experiments with suicidal DNA vaccines for fish, where the plasmid vector includes a protein to induce apoptosis after an immune response has been triggered [26].

11. PLGA particles as carrier systems for DNA vaccines – focus on fish

Besides the proven efficacy of G-protein expressing plasmids against novirhabdoviruses, there is an urgent need to develop high performing vaccines against other viral diseases. In this aspect, DNA vaccines delivered by several kinds of particles may show promise. There is considerable research being done on the application of carrier systems and/or DNA-complexes to facilitate higher levels of entry and reduce degradation, reviewed by Saade et al. [65]. The potential of PLGA particles as adjuvants and carriers for DNA vaccine delivery has received considerable attention in mammalian studies [68]. In spite of this, reports on the use of PLGA particles for DNA delivery to fish are nearly non-existent. In 2008, Tian et al. were the first to report on the use of PLGA microcapsules containing a plasmid vaccine for the oral immunization of Japanese flounder against lymphocystis disease virus (LCDV) [69]. Following immunization they detected transgene expression in gills, intestine, spleen and kidney from fish vaccinated with encapsulated pDNA. The encapsulated pDNA also induced higher levels of antibodies compared to control fish injected with naked pDNA. Tian and Yu later demonstrated a significant increase in resistance to LCDV infection after oral administration of a pDNA vaccine encapsulated into PLGA nanoparticles [70]. Finally, the last study so far reported was by Adomako et al., who used PLGA nanoparticles incorporated into feed for oral delivery of a DNA vaccine against IHNV to rainbow trout [28]. They found that particles were mostly taken up in the posterior gut, but that a significant number of fish that showed uptake in gastrointestinal epithelial cells did not demonstrate detectable levels of transgene expression. Although antibody responses could be detected in fish given high doses of pDNA, the RPS at a six weeks postvaccination challenge was still only 22%. No VHSV/ IHNV DNA vaccine trials using nano- or micro-particle vehicles have been carried out so far. It would have been very interesting to compare the vaccine efficacy of naked plasmid encoding for VHSV and IHNV G-protein to corresponding particle delivered vaccines.

The exploitation of PLGA encapsulated DNA vaccines in fish is new, currently there are no information whether this strategy is a way to go to increase efficacy of DNA vaccines for fish. There are, however, indications that pDNA encapsulated in PLGA nanoparticles induce a antiviral immune response in salmon - at a higher level than what is achieved with only pDNA [71].

12. Issues of making DNA encapsulated PLGA particles

The w1/o/w2 method described previously is frequently used for the encapsulation of pDNA into PLGA particles, but results are highly variable with regard to encapsulation efficiency and loading as well as DNA degradation and release. The hydrophilic nature of DNA complicates the process of encapsulation as it increases the risk of plasmid diffusion into the w2 phase during solvent evaporation [72], and the encapsulation process also offers multiple challenges in terms of preservation of bioactivity – i.e. keeping the supercoiled DNA topoform intact.

Among the factors known to affect the integrity of the pDNA to be encapsulated are the polymer composition and molecular weight (Mw), shear force, preparation temperatures, solvents and the concentration and Mw of the applied stabilizer [73]. In general, polymers with a high Mw also result in the highest encapsulation efficiencies and lower the burst release of plasmid DNA [73].

13. Transgene expression and immune responses by PLGA-encapsulated pDNA

Encapsulated DNA has been shown to be more potent than naked DNA at mediating transgene expression in vitro in a variety of mammalian cells types [74]. However, in vivo studies report on a superiority of naked DNA in eliciting transgene expression not only compared to PLGA particles, but also to other formulated DNA vaccines as well [74].

Small particles (< 100 nm) are often shown to be internalized more rapidly, and also show the highest transfection efficiencies [75].

The adsorption of plasmid DNA onto the surface of PLGA particles, rather than encapsulation, has been reported to result in a higher transgene expression, but the expression declined more rapidly [48].

In addition to the pro-inflammatory cytokines induced by empty PLGA nano- and micro-particles (IL-1 β and TNF- α) [76], the use of different particle sizes might influence the resulting cytokine profile after administration of encapsulated or particle-bound CpG DNA [77]. In addition to pro-inflammatory cytokines, nanoparticles have been shown to also enable an induction of antiviral

cytokines such as type I IFNs in addition [77]. The encapsulation of pDNA encoding antigens has also been shown to elicit CTL-responses, even with pDNA-amounts that elicited no such responses after naked administration [77]. Moreover, encapsulated pDNA also enhanced the total antibody response at high doses, while inducing a more rapid and complete sero-conversion when lower doses were applied [78].

The injection of PLG microspheres into muscle has been shown to result in a foreign body response, with a large influx of different inflammatory cells that appear largely related to microspheres especially at later timepoints [79]. These infiltrating cells were also the ones that were primarily transfected, an observation similar to that found in another study [80].

14. Other particles in vaccine delivery to fish

The extensive use of PLGA as vaccine delivery vehicles can largely be attributed to their high biocompatibility as well as the ease with which the particles can be prepared. There are other means to increase the level of transgene expression that may increase vaccine efficacy, given that the transgenes produced display fair immunogenic properties, by using tailored particle systems – as outlined by Nguyen et al. [73]. Other particles have also been investigated as carrier systems for vaccination of fish (Table 2), either on their own or in combination.

15. Current challenges in the use of PLGA particles as carriers/adjuvants

Despite a growing number of optimistic reports on the adjuvant/carrier properties of PLGA particles, there are still many hindrances to be overcome. One of these is the preparation method, where different drugs/vaccines require different conditions. While some compounds are easily encapsulated, others — like DNA vaccines — are more difficult to encapsulate in an efficient manner. Low encapsulation efficiencies not only result in low antigen loading, but also mean that a large amount of drug/

vaccine goes to waste during particle preparation. The detrimental effects that encapsulation may have on certain antigens such as pDNA are also major limiting factors at the moment, and need to be resolved. Particle preparation is also low-scale work as of yet, with considerable effort to be made before the process is optimized on a large scale suitable for mass-production.

16. Concerns regarding PLGA nano- and micro-particles

Any construct/compound, when brought down to submicron sizes, will exhibit new and potentially harmful characteristics [89]. The small size means they can interact with biological membranes in an entirely new way, thus inducing responses not seen with larger constructs. As with all new applications it takes time to fully survey the potential side effects. In vitro studies using PLGA nano- and micro-particles have so far not revealed any toxic effects, even at large doses [90]. The various concerns regarding the use of PLGA particles in aquaculture vaccines have recently been reviewed by Nielsen et al. [91].

17. Safety and regulatory aspects by DNA vaccines

Safety aspects include potential effects on the vaccinated animals, the environment and the consumer [1,64,92]. Other safety issues include potential shed of the vaccine to the environment from the vaccinated animal and by predatory animals [93]. Human safety does also, although with low probability, include potential effects by self-injection by vaccinators. These safety aspects need to be taken into consideration by relevant authorities when safety aspects are to be documented.

The Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA) that gives authority to the Veterinary Biologics Section (VBS) of the Animal Health and Production Division (AHPD) approved the IHNV DNA vaccine for commercial use in Canada in 2005 [94]. Five aspects were taken into consideration before the vaccine was approved: (i) public

Table 2 Compounds tested as adjuvants and gene vaccine delivery systems to fish species, published from 2007 to date

Particles	Carrier molecule(s)	Assembly	Species	
Alginate	$\beta(1,4)$ -D-mannuronic and $\alpha(1,4)$ -L-guluronic acid residues	Encapsulation	Japanese flounder [81]	
Chitosan	ß(1,4)-D-glucosamine and N-acetyl-D-glucosamine copolymer	Encapsulation	Nile tilapia (<i>Oreochromis niloticus</i>) [82] Japanese flounder [83] Asian sea bass (<i>Lates calcifer</i>) [84] Turbot [85]	
Liposomes	Artificial lipid bilayer vesicles	Encapsulation	Kelp grouper (E. bruneus) [86]	
Polycaprolactone	Biodegradable, synthetic polymer	Coating	Indian major carp (Labeo rohito) [87]	
Calcium phosphate	Inorganic, biodegradable and biocompatible material	Coating	Indian major carp [88]	

perception and acceptance, (ii) regulatory and environmental concerns, (iii) risk-benefit, (iv) feasibility of producing the vaccine at a scale and cost appropriate for the fish industry, and (v) intellectual property issues [91]. At present there has not been approved any DNA vaccine to be used in aquaculture in Europe. To obtain marketing authorization within Europe, a new veterinary medicine has to meet the criteria and requirements of the EU pharmaceutical legislation for both medical and veterinary applications. To achieve a marketing application a MAA (marketing authorization application) has to be submitted to the European Medicines Agency (EMA). The EMA has drafted guidelines for the veterinary use of DNA vaccines [95]. The European guidelines include several aspects to be considered in order to conduct a risk assessment of DNA vaccines. This includes i) the possibility of pDNA integrating into the chromosome, ii) concerns about possible adverse effects on the immune system, iii) risks posed by the additional use of genes encoding cytokines or co-stimulatory molecules or iv) undesirable biological activity by the expressed antigen itself. At present there are work undertaken within EMA with the intention to revise and update the guidance for DNA vaccines and the goal is to provide a specific guidance document [96]. This work is especially concerned to the use of DNA vaccines to humans and if the outcome will have influence on the veterinary use of DNA vaccines is therefore uncertain. The guidelines prepared by the FDA (US) points to some of the same areas as in EU, and recommends that safety testing should include tests on vaccine immunogenicity, effects from cytokines and other immunomodulatory genes, autoimmunity, local reactogenicity and systemic toxicity and studies of bio-distribution, persistence and integration [97].

The issue of plasmid persistence and chromosomal integration of DNA vaccine is of relevance for both safety and policy [92,93]. Norwegian authorities may for example, due to uncertainties with regard to whether DNA vaccines persist degradation in tissues and organs label DNA vaccinated fish as a GMO [98]. If a DNA vaccinated animal is considered to be a GMO the producers has also to meet the requirements of the EU environmental legislation on the deliberate release of GMOs (Directive 2001/18/EC). The objective of an environmental risk assessment (ERA) in accordance with Directive 2001/18/EC is to identify and assess on a case-by-case basis the potential harmful effects of a GMO for humans, animals (domestic and wildlife), plants, microorganisms and the environment. The EMA has developed two specific guidelines for the preparation of ERA to facilitate adoptions of the requirements and the methodology of the Directive to GMO-containing medical products. Although these guidelines have mainly been used for MAA of GM vaccines, they may provide necessary information and procedures that can also be used to perform ERA for DNA vaccines and vaccinated animals.

The process of obtaining a market authorization for a new fish vaccine is a both time consuming and expensive. To overcome some of the legal uncertainties there is a need to assess potential consequences on a case-bycase basis and to be aware of that a number of factors such as the inserted gene, other gene inserts of the pDNA, injection site and amount of vaccine injected are of importance. Safety and regulatory uncertainties are related to distribution and degradation of the DNA after injection and includes that there is a need of research on the (i) the stability of the DNA vaccine, (ii) plasmid persistence, (iii) unintended immunological impacts, and (iv) potential for integration of the pDNA into the chromosome of the recipient organism [93]. These uncertainties are also of relevance for consumer acceptance and the markets confidence in safety.

The GMO issues may only be of concern for countries that have specific GMO legislation and that demands that GMOs and products thereof need to be labeled. In USA and Canada there are no requirements for labeling of food containing GMOs, and they do not have specific GMO legislation. In Europe due to the uncertainties with regard to the persistence of a DNA vaccine, the vaccinated fish may need to be labeled as a GMO. For example European countries that employ restrictions on GMO may not import the DNA vaccinated fish, and if the fish need to be labeled as a GMO this will have an influence on consumer willingness to buy it. Ultimately may these uncertainties prevent the use of DNA vaccines [92].

18. Conclusions

There is a crucial need to increase efficacy of DNA vaccines against persistent and hard-to-combat viral infections, this can be met by: (i) Application of vaccine carriers to increase the uptake in antigen presenting cells followed by enhanced presentation of transgene peptides/ antigens, (ii) Use of nano-scale particles to increase the level of cross presentation by such cells – this may also be beneficial to produce antibody response as well as cell mediated immunity, and (iii) Employing additional adjuvants such as TLR ligands, other than RNA and/or DNA, ligands to boost the response considerably. Safety and regulatory uncertainties are related to distribution and degradation of the DNA after injection and more effort needs to be put into gaining understanding of the mechanisms of pDNA uptake, from the moment of administration until the stage of transcription and translation in the nucleus.

19. Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

20. Authors' contributions

LBH has made the most substantial contribution to this review, while RAD and AIM has revised the manuscript critically. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

21. Acknowledgements

This project was funded by the Research Council of Norway (project nos. 182035 and 183204/S40) and Tromsø Research Foundation ("Induction and assessment of T cell immunity to virus antigens in salmonids).

Author details

¹UIT - The Arctic University of Norway, Faculty of Biosciences, Fisheries & Economics, Norwegian College of Fishery Science, 9037 Tromsø, Norway. ²Genøk – Centre for Biosafety, The Science Park, Postbox 6418, 9294 Tromsø, Norway.

Received: 10 July 2013 Accepted: 5 February 2014 Published: 19 February 2014

22. References

- Evensen Ø, Leong JA: DNA vaccines against viral diseases of farmed fish. Fish Shellfish Immun 2013. 35:1751–1758.
- Wang G, Pan L, Zhang Y: Approaches to improved targeting of DNA vaccines. Hum Vaccin 2011, 7:1271–1281.
- Board TNBA: Regulation of DNA vaccines and gene therapy on animals. 2003. [http://www.bion.no/filarkiv/2010/07/ 2006_03_regulation_of_DNA_vaccines.pdf].
- Ballesteros NA, Saint-Jean SS, Perez-Prieto SI, Coll JM: Trout oral VP2 DNA vaccination mimics transcriptional responses occurring after infection with infectious pancreatic necrosis virus (IPNV). Fish Shellfish Immunol 2012, 33:1249–1257
- Heppell J, Lorenzen N, Armstrong NK, Wu T, Lorenzen E, Einer-Jensen K, Schorr J, Davis HL: Development of DNA vaccines for fish: vector design, intramuscular injection and antigen expression using viral haemorrhagic septicaemia virus genes as model. Fish Shellfish Immunol 1998, 8:271–286.
- Liu MA: DNA vaccines: an historical perspective and view to the future. Immunol Rev 2011, 239:62–84.
- Raz ETH, Sato Y, Corr M, Dudler JA, Swain SL, Spiegelberg HL, Varson DA: Preferential induction of a Th1 immune response and inhibition of specific IgE antibody formation by plasmid DNA immunization. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1996, 93:5141–5145.
- Sbai H, Schneider J, Hill AV, Whalen RG: Role of transfection in the priming of cytotoxic T-cells by DNA-mediated immunization. Vaccine 2002, 20:3137–3147.
- Dixon B, Stet RJM: The relationship between major histocompatibility receptors and innate immunity in teleost fish. Dev Comp Immunol 2001, 25:683–699.
- Dijkstra JM, Okamoto H, Ototake M, Nakanishi T: Luciferase expression 2 years after DNA injection in glass catfish (Kryptopterus bicirrhus). Fish Shellfish Immunol 2001, 11:199–202.
- Tonheim TC, Leirvik J, Løvoll M, Myhr Al, Bøgwald J, Dalmo RA: Detection of supercoiled plasmid DNA and luciferase expression in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) 535 days after injection. Fish Shellfish Immunol 2007, 23:867–876.
- 12. Rotem Z, Cox RA, Isaacs A: Inhibition of virus multiplication by foreign nucleic acid. *Nature* 1963, **197**:564–566.
- Klinman DM: Immunotherapeutic uses of CpG oligodeoxynucleotides. Nat Rev Immunol 2004, 4:248–257.
- Anderson ED, Mourich DV, Fahrenkrug SC, LaPatra S, Shepherd J, Leong JAC: Genetic immunization of rainbow trout (*Onchorhynchus mykiss*) against infectious hematopoietic necrosis virus. *Mol Mar Biol Biotechnol* 1996, 5:114–122.
- Traxler GS, Anderson E, LaPatra SE, Richard J, Shewmaker B, Kurath G: Naked DNA vaccination of Atlantic salmon Salmo salar against IHNV. Dis Aquat Organ 1999, 38:183–190.
- Purcell MK, Laing KJ, Winton JR: Immunity to fish rhabdoviruses. Viruses 2012. 4:140–166
- Purcell MK, Nichols KM, Winton JR, Kurath G, Thorgaard GH, Wheeler P, Hansen JD, Herwig RP, Park LK: Comprehensive gene expression profiling following DNA vaccination of rainbow trout against infectious hematopoietic necrosis virus. Mol Immunol 2006, 43:2089–2106.

- Cuesta A, Tafalla C: Transcription of immune genes upon challenge with viral hemorrhagic septicemia virus (VHSV) in DNA vaccinated rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Vaccine 2009, 27:280–289.
- Lorenzen N, Lorenzen E, Einer-Jensen K, LaPatra SE: Immunity induced shortly after DNA vaccination of rainbow trout against rhabdoviruses protects against heterologous virus but not against bacterial pathogens. Dev Comp Immunol 2002, 26:173–179.
- Lorenzen E, Lorenzen N, Einer-Jensen K, Brudeseth B, Evensen Ø: Time
 course study of in situ expression of antigens following DNA-vaccination
 against VHS in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss Walbaum) fry. Fish
 Shellfish Immunol 2005, 19:27–41.
- 21. Gomez-Chiarri M, Livingston SK, Muro-Cacho C, Sanders S, Levine RP: Introduction of foreign genes into the tissue of live fish by direct injection and particle bombardment. *Dis Aquat Organ* 1996, **27**:5–12.
- Tonheim TC, Bøgwald J, Dalmo RA: What happens to the DNA vaccine in fish? A review of current knowledge. Fish Shellfish Immunol 2008, 25:1–18.
- 23. Kurath G: Biotechnology and DNA vaccines for aquatic animals. Rev Sci Tech 2008, 27:175–196.
- 24. Redding L, Weiner DB: **DNA vaccines in veterinary use**. *Expert Rev Vaccines* 2009. **8:**1251–1276.
- Gomez-Casado E, Estepa A, Coll JM: A comparative review on European-farmed finfish RNA viruses and their vaccines. Vaccine 2011, 29:2657–2671.
- Alonso M, Chiou PP, Leong JA: Development of a suicidal DNA vaccine for infectious hematopoietic necrosis virus (IHNV). Fish Shellfish Immunol 2011, 30:815–823.
- Penaranda MMD, LaPatra SE, Kurath G: Specificity of DNA vaccines against the U and M genogroups of infectious hematopoietic necrosis virus (IHNV) in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Fish Shellfish Immunol 2011, 31:43–51.
- Adomako M, St-Hilaire S, Zheng Y, Eley J, Marcum RD, Sealey W, Donahower BC, LaPatra S, Sheridan PP: Oral DNA vaccination of rainbow trout, Oncorhynchus mykiss (Walbaum), against infectious haematopoietic necrosis virus using PLGA [Poly(D, L-Lactic-Co-Glycolic Acid)] nanoparticles. J Fish Dis 2012, 35:203–214.
- Choi SH, Kim MS, Kim KH: Immunization of olive flounder (*Paralichthys olivaceus*) with an auxotrophic *Edwardsiella tarda* mutant harboring the VHSV DNA vaccine. Fish Shellfish Immunol 2012, 33:569–574.
- Heras Al D I, Rodríguez Saint-Jean S, Perez-Prieto SI: Immunogenic and protective effects of an oral DNA vaccine against infectious pancreatic necrosis virus in fish. Fish Shellfish Immunol 2010, 28:562–570.
- 31. Munang'andu HM, Fredriksen BN, Mutoloki S, Brudeseth B, Kuo T-Y, Marjara IS, Dalmo RA, Evensen Ø: Comparison of vaccine efficacy for different antigen delivery systems for infectious pancreatic necrosis virus vaccines in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) in a cohabitation challenge model. *Vaccine* 2012, 30:4007–4016.
- Xu C, Mutoloki S, Evensen Ø: Superior protection conferred by inactivated whole virus vaccine over subunit and DNA vaccines against salmonid alphavirus infection in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.). Vaccine 2012, 30:3918–3928.
- Zhang M, Hu YH, Xiao ZZ, Sun Y, Sun L: Construction and analysis of experimental DNA vaccines against megalocytivirus. Fish Shellfish Immunol 2012, 33:1192–1198.
- Jiao XD, Zhang M, Hu YH, Sun L: Construction and evaluation of DNA vaccines encoding Edwardsiella tarda antigens. Vaccine 2009, 27:5195–5202.
- 35. Sun Y, Liu CS, Sun L: Construction and analysis of the immune effect of an *Edwardsiella tarda* DNA vaccine encoding a D15-like surface antigen. *Fish Shellfish Immunol* 2011, **30**:273–279.
- Sun Y, Liu CS, Sun L: Comparative study of the immune effect of an *Edwardsiella tarda* antigen in two forms: Subunit vaccine vs DNA vaccine. Vaccine 2011, 29:2051–2057.
- Sun Y, Hu YH, Liu CS, Sun L: Construction and comparative study of monovalent and multivalent DNA vaccines against Streptococcus iniae. Fish Shellfish Immunol 2012, 33:1303–1310.
- Sun Y, Hu YH, Liu CS, Sun L: A Streptococcus iniae DNA vaccine delivered by a live attenuated Edwardsiella tarda via natural infection induces cross-genus protection. Lett Appl Microbiol 2012, 55:420–426.
- Qin YX, Su YQ, Wang SF, Yan QP: Immunogenicity and protective efficacy of Vibrio harveyi pcFlaA DNA vaccine in Epinephelus awoara. Chin J Oceanol Limn 2009, 27:769–774.
- Hu YH, Sun L: A bivalent Vibrio harveyi DNA vaccine induces strong protection in Japanese flounder (Paralichthys olivaceus). Vaccine 2011, 29:4328–4333.

- 41. Liang HY, Wu ZH, Jian JC, Huang YC: Protection of red snapper (*Lutjanus sanguineus*) against *Vibrio alginolyticus* with a DNA vaccine containing flagellin flaA gene. *Lett Appl Microbiol* 2011, **52**:156–161.
- Plant KP, LaPatra SE, Cain KD: Vaccination of rainbow trout, Oncorhynchus mykiss (Walbaum), with recombinant and DNA vaccines produced to Flavobacterium psychrophilum heat shock proteins 60 and 70. J Fish Dis 2009. 32:521–534.
- Priya TAJ, Lin YH, Wang YC, Yang CS, Chang PS, Song YL: Codon changed immobilization antigen (iAg), a potent DNA vaccine in fish against Cryptocaryon irritans infection. Vaccine 2012, 30:893–903.
- Tan CW, Jesudhasan P, Woo PTK: Towards a metalloprotease-DNA vaccine against piscine cryptobiosis caused by Cryptobia salmositica. Parasitol Res 2008, 102:265–275.
- Jorgensen LV, Sigh J, Kania PW, Holten-Andersen L, Buchmann K, Clark T, Rasmussen JS, Einer-Jensen K, Lorenzen N: Approaches towards DNA vaccination against a skin ciliate parasite in fish. PloS One 2012, 7:e48129
- Garver KA, Conway CM, Elliott DG, Kurath G: Analysis of DNA-vaccinated fish reveals viral antigen in muscle, kidney and thymus, and transient histopathologic changes. Mar Biotechnol 2005, 7:540–553.
- Budker V, Budker T, Zhang GF, Subbotin V, Loomis A, Wolff JA: Hypothesis: naked plasmid DNA is taken up by cells in vivo by a receptor-mediated process. J Gene Med 2000, 2:76–88.
- Zhong Q, Chinta DM, Pamujula S, Wang H, Yao X, Mandal TK, Luftig RB: Optimization of DNA delivery by three classes of hybrid nanoparticle/DNA complexes. J Nanobiotechnol 2010. 8:6.
- Desmet CJ, Ishii KJ: Nucleic acid sensing at the interface between innate and adaptive immunity in vaccination. Nat Rev Immunol 2012, 12:479–491.
- Mukhopadhyay S, Gordon S: The role of scavenger receptors in pathogen recognition and innate immunity. *Immunobiology* 2004, 209:39–49.
- Seternes T, Tonheim TC, Løvoll M, Bøgwald J, Dalmo RA: Specific endocytosis and degradation of naked DNA in the endocardial cells of cod (Gadus morhua L.). J Exp Biol 2007, 210:2091–2103.
- Zhu FG, Reich CF, Pisetsky DS: The role of the macrophage scavenger receptor in immune stimulation by bacterial DNA and synthetic oligonucleotides. *Immunology* 2001, 103:226–234.
- Zhang XX, McIntosh TJ, Grinstaff MW: Functional lipids and lipoplexes for improved gene delivery. *Biochimie* 2012, 94:42–58.
- Weintraub H, Cheng PF, Conrad K: Expression of transfected DNA depends on DNA topology. Cell 1986, 46:115–122.
- Williams JA, Carnes AE, Hodgson CP: Plasmid DNA vaccine vector design: impact on efficacy, safety and upstream production. *Biotechnol Adv* 2009, 27:353–370.
- Davis HL, Millan CLB, Watkins SC: Immune-mediated destruction of transfected muscle fibers after direct gene transfer with antigen-expressing plasmid DNA. Gene Ther 1997, 4:181–188.
- Tan Y, Li S, Pitt BR, Huang L: The inhibitory role of CpG immunostimulatory motifs in cationic lipid vector-mediated transgene expression in vivo. Hum Gene Ther 1999, 10:2153–2161.
- Qin LH, Ding YZ, Pahud DR, Chang E, Imperiale MJ, Bromberg JS: Promoter attenuation in gene therapy: interferon-gamma and tumor necrosis factor-alpha inhibit transgene expression. Hum Gene Ther 1997, 8:2019–2029.
- McLauchlan PE, Collet B, Ingerslev E, Secombes CJ, Lorenzen N, Ellis AE: DNA vaccination against viral haemorrhagic septicaemia (VHS) in rainbow trout: size, dose, route of injection and duration of protection-early protection correlates with Mx expression. Fish Shellfish Immunol 2003, 15:39–50.
- Hansen E, Fernandes K, Goldspink G, Butterworth P, Umeda PK, Chang KC: Strong expression of foreign genes following direct injection into fish muscle. FEBS Lett 1991, 290:73–76.
- Doh SG, Vahlsing HL, Hartikka J, Liang X, Manthorpe M: Spatial-temporal patterns of gene expression in mouse skeletal muscle after injection of lacZ plasmid DNA. Gene Ther 1997, 4:648–663.
- Corbeil S, LaPatra SE, Anderson ED, Kurath G: Nanogram quantities of a DNA vaccine protect rainbow trout fry against heterologous strains of infectious hematopoietic necrosis virus. Vaccine 2000, 18:2817–2824.
- Lorenzen E, Einer-Jensen K, Rasmussen JS, Kjaer TE, Collet B, Secombes CJ, Lorenzen N: The protective mechanisms induced by a fish rhabdovirus DNA vaccine depend on temperature. Vaccine 2009, 27:3870–3880.
- Myhr A, Dalmo RA: Introduction of genetic engineering in aquaculture: Ecological and ethical implications for science and governance. Aquaculture 2005, 250:542–554.

- 65. Saade F, Petrovsky N: Technologies for enhanced efficacy of DNA vaccines. Expert Rev Vaccines 2012, 11:189–209.
- Caipang CMA, Hirono I, Aoki T: Modulation of the early immune response against viruses by a teleostean interferon regulatory factor-1 (IRF-1). Comp Biochem Physiol A Mol Integr Physiol 2009, 152:440–446.
- Tonheim T, Dalmo RA, Bøgwald J, Seternes T: Specific uptake of plasmid DNA without reporter gene expression in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) kidney after intramuscular administration. Fish Shellfish Immunol 2008, 24:90–101.
- Tinsley-Bown AM, Fretwell R, Dowsett AB, Davis SL, Farrar GH: Formulation of poly(D,L-lactic-co-glycolic acid) microparticles for rapid plasmid DNA delivery. J Control Release 2000, 66:229–241.
- Tian J, Sun X, Chen X, Yuc J, Qu L, Wang L: The formulation and immunisation of oral poly (DL-lactide-co-glycolide) microcapsules containing a plasmid vaccine against lymphocystis disease virus in Japanese flounder (*Paralichthys olivaceus*). Int Immunopharmacol 2008, 8:900–908
- Tian J, Yu J: Poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) nanoparticles as candidate DNA vaccine carrier for oral immunization of Japanese flounder (*Paralichthys olivaceus*) against lymphocystis disease virus. *Fish Shellfish Immunol* 2011, 30:109–117.
- Hølvold LB, Fredriksen BN, Bøgwald J, Dalmo RA: Transgene and immune gene expression following intramuscular injection of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) with DNA-releasing PLGA nano- and microparticles. Fish Shellfish Immunol 2013, 35:890–899.
- Malyala P, O'Hagan DT, Singh M: Enhancing the therapeutic efficacy of CpG oligonucleotides using biodegradable microparticles. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2009. 61:218–225.
- Nguyen DN, Green JJ, Chan JM, Longer R, Anderson DG: Polymeric materials for gene delivery and DNA vaccination. Adv Mater 2009, 21:847–867.
- Cohen H, Levy RJ, Gao J, Fishbein I, Kousaev V, Sosnowski S, Slomkowski S, Golomb G: Sustained delivery and expression of DNA encapsulated in polymeric nanoparticles. Gene Ther 2000, 7:1896–1905.
- Prabha S, Zhou WZ, Panyam J, Labhasetwar V: Size-dependency of nanoparticle-mediated gene transfection: studies with fractionated nanoparticles. Int J Pharm 2002, 244:105–115.
- Sharp FA, Ruane D, Claass B, Creagh E, Harris J, Malyala P, Singh M, O'Hagan DT, Petrilli V, Tschopp J, O'Neill LA, Lavelle EC: Uptake of particulate vaccine adjuvants by dendritic cells activates the NALP3 inflammasome. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2009, 106:870–875.
- Hedley ML, Curley J, Urban R: Microspheres containing plasmid-encoded antigens elicit cytotoxic T-cell responses. Nat Med 1998, 4:365–368.
- Singh M, Briones M, Ott G, O'Hagan D: Cationic microparticles: a potent delivery system for DNA vaccines. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2000, 97:811–816.
- Jang JH, Shea LD: Intramuscular delivery of DNA releasing microspheres: microsphere properties and transgene expression. J Control Release 2006, 112:120–128.
- Labhasetwar V, Bonadio J, Goldstein SA, Levy JR: Gene transfection using biodegradable nanospheres: results in tissue culture and a rat osteotomy model. Colloid Surface B 1999, 16:281–290.
- Tian JY, Sun XQ, Chen XG: Formation and oral administration of alginate microspheres loaded with pDNAcoding for lymphocystis disease virus (LCDV) to Japanese flounder. Fish Shellfish Immunol 2008, 24:592–599.
- Leal CAG, Carvalho-Castro GA, Sacchetin PSC, Lopes CO, Moraes AM, Figueiredo HCP: Oral and parenteral vaccines against Flavobacterium columnare: evaluation of humoral immune response by ELISA and in vivo efficiency in Nile tilapia (Oreochromis niloticus). Aquacult Int 2010, 18:657–666.
- 83. Tian J, Yu J, Sun X: Chitosan microspheres as candidate plasmid vaccine carrier for oral immunisation of Japanese flounder (*Paralichthys olivaceus*). *Vet Immunol Immunopathol* 2008, **126**:220–229.
- Kumar SR, Ahmed VPI, Parameswaran V, Sudhakaran R, Babu VS, Hameed ASS: Potential use of chitosan nanoparticles for oral delivery of DNA vaccine in Asian sea bass (*Lates calcarifer*) to protect from *Vibrio* (*Listonella*) anguillarum. Fish Shellfish Immunol 2008, 25:47–56.
- Leon-Rodriguez L, Luzardo-Alvarez A, Blanco-Mendez J, Lamas J, Leiro J: Biodegradable microparticles covalently linked to surface antigens of the scuticociliate parasite P. dicentrarchi promote innate immune responses in vitro. Fish Shellfish Immunol 2013, 34:236–243.
- Harikrishnan R, Kim JS, Balasundaram C, Heo MS: Vaccination effect of liposomes entrapped whole cell bacterial vaccine on immune response

- and disease protection in *Epinephelus bruneus* against *Vibrio harveyi*. *Aquaculture* 2012, **342**:69–74.
- Behera T, Swain P: Antigen adsorbed surface modified poly-epsilon-caprolactone microspheres stimulates both adaptive and innate immune response in fish. Vaccine 2012, 30:5278–5284.
- Behera T, Swain P: Antigen adsorbed calcium phosphate nanoparticles stimulate both innate and adaptive immune response in fish, Labeo rohita H. Cell Immunol 2011, 271:350–359.
- Myhr AI, Dalmo RA: Nanotechnology and risk: what are the issues? In Nanoethics: The Ethical and Social Implications of Nanotechnology. Edited by Allhoff FLP, Moor J, Weckert J. New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons Inc; 2007:149–161.
- Gvili K, Benny O, Danino D, Machluf M: Poly(D,L-lactide-co-glycolide acid) nanoparticles for DNA delivery: waiving preparation complexity and increasing efficiency. *Biopolymers* 2007, 85:379–391.
- Nielsen KN, Fredriksen BN, Myhr Al: Mapping uncertainties in the upstream: the case of PLGA nanoparticles in salmon vaccines. Nanoethics 2011, 5:57–71.
- Lorenzen N, LaPatra SE: DNA vaccines for aquacultured fish. Rev Sci Tech 2005, 24:201–213.
- 93. Gillund F, Tonheim T, Seternes T, Dalmo RA, Myhr Al: **DNA vaccination in aquaculture –Expert judgements of impact on environment and fish health**. *Aquaculture* 2008, **284**:25–34.
- 94. Salonius K, Simard N, Harland R, Ulmer JB: The road to licensure of a DNA vaccine. *Curr Opin Investig Drugs* 2007, **8**:635–641.
- EMEA, Committee for Veterinary Medicinal Products: Note for guidance: DNA vaccines non-amplifiable in Eukaryotic cells for veterinary use. 2001. [http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en_GB/document_library/ Scientific_guideline/2009/10/WC500004614.pdf].
- EMEA, Committee for the Medicinal Products for Human Use: Concept paper on guidance for DNA vaccines. 2012. [http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/ en_GB/document_library/Scientific_guideline/2012/03/WC500124898.pdf].
- Food and Drug Administration (FDA), Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research: Guidance for Industry. Considerations for Plasmid DNA Vaccines for Infectious Disease indications. 2007. [http://www.fda.gov/downloads/biologicsbloodvaccines/guidancecomplianceregulatoryinformation/guidances/vaccines/ucm091968.pdf].
- 98. Foss GS, Rogne S: Gene medication or genetic modification? The devil is in the details. *Nat Biotechnol* 2003, **21**:1280–1281.

doi:10.1186/1297-9716-45-21

Cite this article as: Hølvold et al.: Strategies and hurdles using DNA vaccines to fish. Veterinary Research 2014 45:21.

Submit your next manuscript to BioMed Central and take full advantage of:

- Convenient online submission
- Thorough peer review
- No space constraints or color figure charges
- Immediate publication on acceptance
- Inclusion in PubMed, CAS, Scopus and Google Scholar
- Research which is freely available for redistribution

Submit your manuscript at www.biomedcentral.com/submit

